












 

 

 
 

1639 SANTA BARBARA AVENUE 
 

GLENDALE 
 

 
Style:  Spanish Colonial Revival 
 
Year of Completion:  1926 
 
Original Building Permit:  #15892, issued by the City of Glendale on February 16, 1926 for a 
one-story, nine-room residence and garage. The house, to measure approximately 50 by 63 feet, 
would have a concrete foundation, wood-frame walls, a composition and tile roof, and one brick 
chimney.    
 
A copy of this permit is attached on pages 18 through 21. 
 
Cost to Build:  $7,700—a typical amount for a house of this size at the time. 
 
Architect:    S. Charles Lee, Los Angeles, who would later become famous for his opulent 
theater designs.  The building permit does not identify an architect, but blueprints in the 
possession of the current owner indicate that S. Charles Lee designed the house.  He was only 25 
years old at the time.   
 
Mr. Lee’s best-known work in Glendale is his re-design of the Alex Theatre in 1940.  The Los 
Angeles Conservancy has commented: 
 

Originally named the Alexander Theatre, designed in 1925 by architects Lindley & Selkirk in a Classical 
Revival style with an entry forecourt, the theatre’s façade was remodeled into a spectacular Moderne 
edifice by noted theatre architect S. Charles Lee, and was renamed the Alex. Under Lee’s remodeling, a 
larger, detached box office, large tower, and huge horizontal, trapezoidal marquee were created: these 
remain today, dominating much of Brand Boulevard and Glendale’s downtown. 
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 Please see the attached biographical materials on Mr. Lee on pages 6 through 17. 
 
Builder:  James P. Steele, Los Angeles.  
 
First Owner:  Robert S. Dick, a tile importer, who shared the house with his wife Florence M. 
Dick and their young daughter.  Mr. Dick purchased the vacant parcel from the F. P. Newport 
Company which had owned it since 1923. Mrs. Dick became the sole owner of the property in 
July 1972. 
 
Robert Stanley Dick was born in Bradford, England on August 13, 1893. His father George was 
a pottery manufacturer and, while still a teenager, Robert worked with him as an apprentice.  In 
1920, Robert immigrated to New York and after a brief stay in Nogales, Mexico, crossed the 
border into Arizona on foot in 1921.   
 
Mrs. Dick was born Florence Mary Mullally in Dublin, Ireland on August 18, 1896.  She served 
in the United Kingdom’s Women’s Army Auxiliary Corps during World War I.  Florence 
immigrated to the United States in 1921 and married her husband that same year in Los Angeles. 
Both became naturalized citizens in 1924.  They would have one daughter: Yvonne Marie (1923-
2009).   
 
During the 1920s and 30s, Mr. Dick served as president of the Donald A. Holm Company, tile-
importers and distributors, representing international manufacturers.  The firm was located at 
2257 East Fifth Street in Los Angeles.  Mr. Holm was vice-president and John Gordon Dick 
(Robert’s brother) was secretary.  Directories indicate that Mr. Dick continued on as a 
“wholesale tile importer” well into the 1950s.   
 
Robert Dick died in Glendale on June 15, 1972 at the age of 78.  Mrs. Dick outlived him by 
many years, passing away on January 17, 1989, having reached the age of 92.   
 
Other Building Permits:  There appear to have been no major structural alterations since the 
house was first built.   
 
A permit was issued in June 1928 to connect the property to the public sewer. 
 
New electrical service was provided to the property in January 1973. 
 
The house was re-roofed in March 1973 for $1,667. 
 
The main flat roof area of the house was re-roofed with Class A fiberglass material, according to 
a permit issued in August 1990.  The cost was $1,500. 
 
In June 2011, work occurred on the HVAC and electrical systems.  A solar voltaic system was 
installed by Clean Fuel Connection, Inc. DBA Solsource Energy.  The cost was estimated at 
$20,000.   
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A major re-roofing job costing $8,000 was permitted in July 2014.  Existing tiles were to be  
re-set. 
 
In March 2015, new 200-amp electrical service was installed. 
 
(Note: Permits for very minor alterations, such as water heater replacement, are not included.  
Also not included are permits missing from the file or whose microfilmed or digital copies are 
indecipherable and not otherwise recorded or described in Assessor’s records.)    
 
Assessor’s Records:  The Los Angeles County Assessor first visited the property on  
September 27, 1926 and recorded a newly-constructed single one-story residence with a concrete 
foundation, stucco walls, a flat and gabled tile and composition roof, and wood trim.  There were 
ten “special”-quality plumbing fixtures. Gas and electrical fixtures were also rated “special.”  
Plaster with a “jazz” finish and ornamental woodwork were the primary interior finishes.  The 
house had a total of seven hardwood floors and a fireplace.  Overall construction quality of the 
house was rated “special”—the highest category available on the Assessor’s form.   
 
The Assessor estimated the square footage at 2,277.  The house contained three living rooms 
(one was probably a dining room), four bedrooms, two fully-tiled bathrooms (one with a walk-in 
shower), a fully-tiled kitchen with a built-in refrigerator, a fully-tiled breakfast room, and a fully-
tiled laundry area.  The detached garage, measuring approximately eighteen feet square, had a 
cement floor, stucco walls, and a flat composition roof.   
 
The Los Angeles County Assessor still currently estimates the square footage of the house at 
2,227 with four bedrooms and two bathrooms.   
 
Copies of the Assessor’s building records are attached on pages 22 through 25. 
 
Other Owners and Residents:  Following Mr. Dick’s death and after 46 years of Dick family 
ownership, the property was purchased by John A. and Diana M. Monday in December 1972. 
Mr. Monday (1931-2003) was a bottler with Anhueser-Busch. 
 
James W. Ripple, et. al., became the owner in April 1991.  Mr. Ripple was a production 
manager.  Name on title changed to Karen K. Miller Ripple in October 1994 and to Karen K. 
Miller in February 1996. Ms. Ripple-Miller was a production consultant who would later become 
an executive with Disney. 
 
Christian G. Sebaldt and Mary A. Seward have been the owners since December 1998. 
 
Note:  As mentioned above, the current owners have copies of the original blueprints for the 
house.  An image of the nameplate on one of the plans, showing S. Charles Lee as architect, is 
attached on page 5.   
 
Significance: The Dick house is potentially eligible for listing on a local inventory of significant 
properties due to its association with the early career of a well-known architect, its excellent state 
of preservation, and its contribution to the architectural and historical context of its Santa 
Barbara Avenue neighborhood. 
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Sources: 
 City of Glendale, Building Department 
 Los Angeles County Assessor (Sylmar district office and Los Angeles archives) 
 Los Angeles Public Library 
 
 Gebhard, David and Robert Winter.  An Architectural Guidebook to Los Angeles. 
  Salt Lake City, Gibbs-Smith, 2003. 
 McAlester, Virginia Savage.  A Field Guide to American Houses.  2nd ed. 
  New York, Knopf, 2013. 
  
 City Directories:  1926-  
  
 Internet Resources, including California Index, California Death Index,  

Gale Biography Master Index, Ancestry.com, and Historic Los Angeles Times 
Database. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Tim Gregory 
The Building Biographer 
400 East California Blvd., #3 
Pasadena, CA  91106-3763 
626-792-7465 (office) 
626-241-4471 (cell) 
timgregory@sbcglobal.net 
www.buildingbiographer.com   
 
Copyright March 2019 
by Tim Gregory 
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S. CHARLES LEE 
Architect 

 
The renowned Los Angeles theater designer S. Charles Lee was born Simeon Charles Levi in 
Chicago on September 5, 1899, the son of American-born parents of German-Jewish ancestry. 
His father Julius was a clothing salesman.  As a child, Simeon enjoyed attending vaudeville 
theaters, nickelodeons and early movie houses–a fact which undoubtedly played a large part in 
his later fascination with theater architecture.  He graduated from Chicago’s Lake Technical 
High School in 1916 where he showed an interest in mechanics, having built three automobiles 
as a teenager.  While in high school, Lee worked part-time in the office of Chicago architect 
Henry Newhouse, a family friend who specialized in small theater design.   Lee graduated with 
honors from the Chicago Technical College in 1918.  He then found an architectural job with the 
South Park Board of the City of Chicago.   
 
After service as a Petty Officer in the U.S. Navy during World War I, Lee entered the 
architectural program of the Armour Institute of Technology and also studied at the Chicago Art 
Institute.  There he learned the then-fashionable principles of the French Ecole des Beaux Arts: 
its emphasis on composition, imagery, and the importance of the well-planned project.  He was 
also influenced by the work of Chicago’s Daniel Burnham, Louis Sullivan and Frank Lloyd 
Wright.  At the same time he was attending classes, he worked for Rapp & Rapp, a Chicago firm 
well-known for its theater designs.  Although Lee considered himself a modernist, he is said to 
have combined the functionalism and freedom of form of that school with the historicism of 
Beaux Arts.   
 
In 1922, Lee drove to Los Angeles in a self-made car for a vacation, but soon decided to relocate 
permanently.  Having changed his name sometime after 1923, Lee established an architectural 
office at 2404 West 7th Street.  (He later moved to 1648 Wilshire Blvd.)  He is said to have 
designed 59 buildings in the first 18 months of his practice.  Lee’s first commissions were for 
residential structures.  Among them: a Spanish-style house for himself in Monrovia (1923);  the 
Eileen Manning residence in Hollywood (1924); the Manheimer Apartments in Los Angeles 
(1924); and the Jack Sherman residence on Vestal Avenue near Echo Park Avenue (1925). 
However, it was his 1925 design of the Tower Theater at 802 South Broadway in downtown  
Los Angeles that brought him his earliest fame.  It was commissioned by H. L. Gumbiner for a 
lot that would seem much too small for such a grand building.  Lee said he almost went bankrupt 
due to the time it took to figure out the unique configuration the site required.  A mixture of 
Spanish, Moorish, and Romanesque features, with a lobby patterned after that of the Paris Opera, 
the Tower Theater turned out to be in all respects a “movie palace.”  It was the first theater built 
downtown to accommodate sound.   
 
Over the next twenty years Lee was to become “Los Angeles’ principal designer of motion 
picture theaters.”  He is credited with the original design or major remodeling of over 400 
theaters throughout California, from Eureka to San Diego, and other parts of the southwest.  His 
work ranged from 500-seat auditoriums in such rural towns as Dinuba, Selma, and Delano to 
1,000+ seat theaters in Oakland, San Francisco, Riverside, and Pasadena.  His client for many of 
these was the Fox West Coast Theater chain who specified reinforced-concrete construction.  
Very sensitive to changing architectural tastes, within a span of a few years, Lee moved from  
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highly decorated Beaux Arts designs to Art Deco and Streamline Moderne, sometimes executing 
a variety of styles during a single year.   
 
A few of Lee’s most celebrated theaters that still exist: the Fox Wilshire Theater, a “wonderful 
creation” in Art Deco with a silver and black color scheme, at 8440 Wilshire Blvd., Beverly Hills 
(1929); the Los Angeles Theater (1930) at 615 South Broadway, costing $1.5 million and 
considered to be “probably the finest [and most expensive] theater building in Los Angeles” with 
its Baroque exterior and lobby modeled after the Hall of Mirrors at Versailles; the Bruin Theater 
(1937) at 925 Broxton Avenue, Westwood, with its semi-circular Moderne marquee; and the 
Academy Theater at 3100 Manchester Blvd. in Inglewood (1939), perhaps “the most magnificent 
theater in Los Angeles”–a Streamline Moderne formed by “a series of interlocking cylinders 
pierced by the hallmark of late 1930s design, glass bricks” and a 125-foot tower originally lit by 
blue neon tubes.  The Tower and Los Angeles Theaters both received multi-page photographic 
treatments in the Architectural Digest magazine. At the time, Lee explained that his theory of 
theater design was that the show had to “begin on the sidewalk” with eye-catching facades.  
 
Smaller theaters of note included the La Reina at Ventura Blvd. and Cedros Avenue in Sherman 
Oaks (1939), a small Moderne whose marquee supported a crown structure, and Glendale’s Alex 
Theater which Lee remodeled in 1940, including a new Moderne entry court and tower.  Also in 
1940, the Walt Disney Company asked Lee to design a theater building for its studio lot.  Lee 
was commissioned to design $1 million worth of theaters in Mexico during the early 1940s.  As a 
reflection of a changing society, he was also asked to design several drive-in theaters in Southern 
California during this period.  
 
However, theaters were not the only output from Lee’s office.  He still designed the occasional 
single-family house, such as the Oldknow residence in Bel-Air; a fourteen-room Italian-style 
residence for Robert J. MacLean in Pacific Palisades (1930); an Italian residence at 17800 
Tramonto Drive in Pacific Palisades (1931) for famed muralist and theater interior designer 
Anthony B. Heinsbergen; the George Hickey residence in Malibu, also in the Italian style (1932); 
and the Emil Wickman house (1936)–a Mediterranean mansion in a rural setting at 14211 
Skyline Drive in Hacienda Heights.   
 
Other post-1925 structures of note: the Bruce Arms Apartments and the Melrose Hotel in 
Hollywood (both 1927); an apartment building in Fresno (1928); the Art Deco-styled Motion 
Picture Producers Association office building at the southwest corner of Hollywood Blvd. and 
Western Avenue (1928), commissioned by Louis B. Mayer and Irving Thalberg, still remarkable 
for the high-relief sculptures on its balconies depicting film-making; the El Mirador Apartments 
at Fountain and Sweetzer in West Hollywood (1929); a boxing arena for the Eastside Athletic 
Club, 22nd Street and Torre Way (1929); a hotel at Eden Hot Springs (1930); an office building 
for the Trabue Patman Corporation at the southeast corner of Washington and Rimpau Blvds. 
(1930); the Max Factor Building at 1659 Highland Avenue in Hollywood, remodeled from an 
old warehouse in 1931 in a Regency Moderne style featuring pink and white marble; a store and 
hotel at the northwest corner of Randolph Street and Pacific Blvd. in Huntington Park (1933); a 
Los Angeles Department of Water & Power building at 2417 Daly Street (1937) in the Regency  
Moderne style with a unique glass facade; and another DWP building at 5108 Lankershim Blvd.  
 



8 
 

(1939)–a “tasteful Streamline Moderne” according to architectural historians David Gebhard and 
Robert Winter.  
 
After World War II, Lee realized that the days of the great movie theaters were over. He then 
concentrated on new technologies in industrial architecture.  The concrete tilt-up buildings, 
numbering over 40 on a 95-acre parcel, that he planned for the Airport Industrial Park near the 
Los Angeles International Airport in 1952 were featured in the Architectural Record.   The sides 
and rear of all the buildings were identical, but the front facades were custom-designed for each 
tenant.  One of his last non-industrial designs, done in association with Samuel E. Lunden, was 
the 1946 Temple Israel of Hollywood.  Its odd juxtaposition of a synagogue in a California 
Mission Revival style was commented on in architectural magazines, but it was pointed out that 
“functional aspects were always paramount” in the design.  This reflected Lee’s reputation as a 
pragmatist.   
 
By 1960, although Lee was identifying himself as a “retired architect,” he was the 
partner/president of the family-owned development business of Lee/Keiter Enterprises, Inc., of 
Beverly Hills.  The firm’s projects included the Laguna Country Club Estates, an own-your-own 
apartment complex that Lee designed in South Laguna; the $400 million Hollypark 
residential/industrial/ commercial community in Gardena; and a similar development on 200 
acres in San Mateo, called Los Prados.  In 1967, the International Executive Service Corps 
invited Lee to travel to El Salvador to share some of his “architectural, engineering and 
construction secrets.”  In 1963, Lee was named honorary vice-consul of Panama in recognition 
of his financial activities there.  He also served as treasurer of the Los Angeles Consular Corps 
and was vice-president of the Braille Institute of America.    
 
Lee wrote a number of articles in architectural journals on theater and restaurant design and was 
honored by several architectural organizations during his lifetime.  In 1934, the Royal Institute of 
British Architects featured his theater designs in their International Exhibition of Contemporary 
Architecture in London.  He received the Synergy Award from the Society of American 
Registered Architects.  Recognition also came from the American Film Institute, the Los 
Angeles City Council, and the County Board of Supervisors.    In later years, his fame was kept 
alive by preservation groups: in 1984 he was asked to speak at a Los Angeles Conservancy 
program about his Streamline buildings.  That year also saw his notes and renderings archived at 
UCLA’s Department of Special Collections.  In 1986 the UCLA Graduate School of 
Architecture and Urban Planning established an endowed chair in his honor.  
 
In the 1930s, Lee lived in Los Angeles at 1078 South Hayworth Avenue with his wife Miriam 
(1901-1960), a native of New York City, whom he had married in 1927.  They had one daughter 
Constance.  By 1949 they were living at 1177 Loma Linda Drive, Beverly Hills, in a 
contemporary home Lee designed for them that year, set among Japanese gardens, complete with 
a tea house. Lee married his second wife Hylda after Miriam’s death.   He was a champion  
backgammon player, a licensed pilot, a breeder of prize-winning Koi fish, and was a member of 
the Hillcrest Country Club where he hobnobbed with celebrities.   
 
S. Charles Lee died on January 27, 1990, having reached the age of 90.  Biographical articles, 
including his obituary from the Los Angeles Times, are attached. 
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Sources: 
 
Gebhard, David and Robert Winter.  An Architectural Guidebook to Los Angeles. 
 Salt Lake City, Gibbs-Smith, 2003. 
Gleye, Paul.  The Architecture of Los Angeles.  Los Angeles, Rosebud Books, 1981. 
Men of California.  Los Angeles, Western Press, 1925. 
Scheid, Ann.  S. Charles Lee: Architect. The S. C. Lee Collection, UCLA Library. 
 
Los Angeles Times: November 27, 1960; April 2, 1967; November 29, 1970; August 26, 1979; 

February 19, 1984; February 21, 1987; January 30, 1990 
 
Internet Resources, including California Index, California Death Index, Gale Biography Master 

Index, Ancestry.com, and Historic Los Angeles Times Database. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Tim Gregory 
The Building Biographer 
400 East California Blvd., #3 
Pasadena, CA  91106-3763 
626-792-7465 
timgregory@sbcglobal.net 
www.buildingbiographer.com   
 
Copyright February 2011 
by Tim Gregory 
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Men of California (1925) 
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January 30, 1990; p. 22 
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